# China's Military Al Roadblocks

PRC Perspectives on Technological Challenges to Intelligentized Warfare

Author Sam Bresnick



June 2024

# **Executive Summary**

China has made significant investments, and apparent progress, in military AI over the past several years. Given AI and related emerging technologies could play critical roles in future wars, the U.S. national security establishment is worried about falling behind China in developing and deploying these technologies.<sup>1</sup> Such concerns have elicited much attention and alarm in the United States.

It is difficult, however, to develop a comprehensive understanding of where each military stands when it comes to military AI development and adoption, let alone conduct a direct comparison between the two. Moreover, often missing from existing assessments of Chinese military AI are Chinese perspectives on their own progress, or lack thereof, in developing and fielding AI-related technologies and capabilities. This report seeks to fill that analytical gap.

This paper outlines several of the key challenges Chinese defense experts argue China is facing regarding the development and deployment of AI and related emerging technologies. It draws on 59 Chinese-language journal articles published between 2020 and 2022 by People's Liberation Army (PLA) officers or researchers, engineers in the Chinese defense industry, and academics working on AI and other emerging technologies.

Key findings include the following:

- 1. In keeping with the findings of previous CSET analyses, Chinese defense scholars believe that AI and other emerging technologies present China with a unique opportunity to catch up to or surpass the United States militarily.
- 2. Many of them are concerned, however, that the PLA remains behind the U.S. military in developing and fielding AI and related emerging technologies.
- 3. Chinese defense experts claim that the PLA is facing barriers to developing and deploying AI and related emerging technologies. The obstacles the experts highlight are similar to some of those with which the U.S. military also appears to be contending. For instance, the Chinese observers are concerned about the

PLA's ability to guarantee network and cyber security, maintain communications in future high-intensity conflicts, and develop trustworthy AI systems.

- 4. The experts also point out issues that may be especially relevant to the PLA's ability to effectively use AI-enabled military systems. These concerns revolve around military data collection, management, and analysis, as well as the development of high-end sensors. They also appear worried about the PLA's insufficiently robust military standards and testing and evaluation practices. These problems, as well as those mentioned in the above paragraph, may complicate China's path toward carrying out AI-enabled systems warfare, a key operational concept that the PLA believes would help it win future wars.
- 5. Contrary to some U.S. discussions of China's views of military AI, many of the Chinese experts whose arguments have been analyzed in this report voice misgivings about using insufficiently trustworthy AI systems in military contexts.<sup>2</sup> They also express concerns about the risks of outbreaks or escalations of wars, civilian deaths, and friendly force targeting by AI-enabled military systems due to insufficiently trustworthy AI. Finally, they note that untrustworthy military AI systems may be less effective in future wars.

# Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	4
Scope and Methodology	7
A Brief Survey of China's Progress Toward AI-Enabled Warfare	10
Chinese Experts' Views of AI-Enabled Warfare	12
Technological Barriers to Developing and Fielding Military AI and Related Emerging Technologies	14
Key Findings	29
Conclusion	32
Author	33
Acknowledgements	33
Appendix A	34
Endnotes	35

#### Introduction

Chinese defense doctrine and writings envision China's military modernization to be unfolding in three successive but often overlapping phases: mechanization (机械化), informatization (信息化), and intelligentization (智能化). When Xi Jinping came to power in 2013, China began to focus on preparing for informatized warfare, or using information technology to improve command and control, aid precision strikes, and utilize space, cyber, and electromagnetic capabilities.<sup>3</sup> In his 2017 speech at the 19<sup>th</sup> Party Congress, Xi called for the PLA to realize basic mechanization and make progress toward informatization by 2020.<sup>4</sup>

In the same speech, Xi exhorted the PLA to speed the process of military intelligentization, broadly defined as the use of artificial intelligence (AI) and other advanced technologies for defense applications.<sup>5</sup> The Chinese government and strategic community are confident that AI and other emerging technologies could provide the PLA with an opportunity to catch up to, or even surpass, the military power of the United States.<sup>6</sup> For instance, prominent PLA affiliates, such as Lieutenant General Liu Guozhi, formerly of the Central Military Commission, have argued that when it comes to military capabilities, intelligentization is a "rare opportunity" to "overtake [competitors] on the curve."7 Official government guidance mirrors the leadership's growing focus on intelligentized warfare. China's 2019 Defense White Paper noted the PLA's increasing focus on bolstering its "intelligence" in warfare, while the 14th Five-Year Plan directed the military to "accelerate integrated development of mechanization, informatization, and intelligentization."8 Indeed, intelligentization has become the lodestar for the PLA's development and modernization.<sup>9</sup> The PLA has not, however, released official guidance on its concepts for intelligentized warfare, nor precisely on how AI and related technologies factor into the concept. Moreover, definitions of the term, as well as that of informatization, remain purposefully vague.

At the same time, Chinese military strategists and defense academics have published thousands of media commentaries, think-tank reports, and journal articles that can help analysts gain a sense of how China is thinking about using AI and related emerging technologies in warfare.<sup>10</sup> The majority of these materials are published in Chinese. While they are generally under-examined by English-speaking experts,

several researchers have analyzed varying selections to glean insights into how Chinese analysts think future wars will be fought. Some reports focus on how Chinese defense experts envision how AI and other emerging technologies will revolutionize military capabilities, while others focus on these technologies' impacts on deterrence and strategic stability.<sup>11</sup> Still other research interrogates military-civil fusion programs, corporate and academic initiatives to boost military intelligentization, and doctrinal debates.<sup>12</sup>

Al and other emerging technologies such as uncrewed systems, autonomy, and data analysis appear central to Chinese military concepts for fighting future wars. There is, however, relatively limited research focused on understanding how Chinese strategists and defense experts view their own country's progress toward developing and deploying these technologies and capabilities, which are ultimately meant to usher in the final stages of China's military modernization. It is this analytical gap that the report seeks to fill.

Through a review of 130 Chinese-language journal articles about AI and the future of warfare, I identify several areas in which Chinese defense experts believe the PLA is facing difficulties in developing military AI and related emerging technologies. The report also provides information on the technologies that Chinese authors believe Beijing should develop to redress its current shortcomings. That the papers are Chinese-language journal articles is significant, as they are meant to contribute to the Chinese academic literature on military AI and other emerging technologies and are aimed at local defense experts. I argue, therefore, that these papers contain insights that are worth noting since they likely reflect aspects of ongoing debates in China over the military relevance of AI and other emerging technologies.

A reading of Chinese journal articles about the military applications of AI and related emerging technologies conveys the sense that China is hopeful about the military utility of AI and is focused on realizing its potential. At the same time, Chinese defense experts are concerned about the trustworthiness of AI systems and worry that Beijing may be trailing the United States in the development and deployment of AI and related emerging technologies in several key areas. Moreover, many of the articles I reviewed reveal doubts about China's ability to develop several technologies that would allow it to catch up to, or surpass, the U.S. military. While the analysis in this report has a number of limitations, it nonetheless reveals important, and at times unexpected, insights into how Chinese defense experts view their own country's capabilities and progress on military AI and related emerging technologies.

# Scope and Methodology

This report is based on an analysis of reflections, hypotheses, and arguments about military AI and related emerging technologies in a corpus of 130 Chinese journal articles authored by PLA-affiliated and non-PLA-affiliated Chinese defense experts. These papers were published between January 1, 2020, and December 31, 2022, and were captured in a China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI) snapshot on March 30, 2023.<sup>\*</sup>

Of these 130 articles, I focus most closely on the 59 papers that featured discussions of perceived barriers to the development and fielding of military AI and related emerging technologies. Twenty of those 59 were authored by affiliates of the PLA or its universities and academies; 16 were by engineers or researchers working at companies or research organizations in the Chinese military industrial complex; 12 were by academics at non-PLA affiliated universities; and the other 11 had no author affiliation information (8), were written by scholars at companies without clear links to the PLA or the Chinese defense industry (2), or were authored by researchers affiliated with Chinese ministries (1). In terms of the journals in which the 59 papers were published, over three-quarters appeared in publications managed by the PLA or its academies/universities, organizations in China's military industrial complex, or other Chinese government entities.<sup>13</sup>

For each of the 59 papers, I created a detailed log documenting concerns the authors outline about the current state of AI and related emerging technologies; authors' views on the difficulties of developing and/or operationalizing AI-enabled military systems; and, where relevant, recommendations that the scholars make for China to enhance its ability to develop and deploy military AI systems and related emerging technologies. Some of the authors note problems all militaries are facing, while others point out

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> See Appendix A for a full explanation of the methodology for generating the CNKI snapshot. Because of the paired keyword approach, the snapshot captured articles that were not relevant to military AI. To determine the final list, the author read the titles and abstracts of every article captured in the snapshot and determined whether each was relevant to military AI. This process helped narrow down to a list of 130 articles relevant to military AI, each of which the author read in full.

specific issues with which China is having difficulties. In this paper, I identify whether the concern is China-specific or not.

In some cases, authors did not identify current shortcomings in China's military AI capabilities but provide recommendations for future development. Given the potential professional consequences associated with openly criticizing the PLA and its capabilities, I treated these recommendations, as well as general statements about China's technological deficiencies, as evidence of areas in which Chinese defense experts believe the PLA needs to make progress to become a world-class fighting force.

The 59 papers in the dataset broadly fit into seven categories:

1) Discussions of the current state of AI-enabled military capabilities, many of which include analysis of limitations and recommendations for developing specific technologies;

2) Broad overviews of the expected future capabilities of AI-enabled military systems;

3) Examinations of the impact of AI and other emerging technologies on strategic stability;

4) Surveys of developments in specific military fields during a certain year;

5) Coverage of how different militaries (mostly the United States) have approached developing specific AI-enabled systems;

6) Discussions of the moral, ethical, and legal aspects of using AI-enabled military systems; and

7) Technical papers on specific technologies or capabilities.

The majority of the papers I cite below are from the first category. In some instances, however, I use information from articles in the other categories. Prior to presenting the findings of my research, several caveats are in order.

First, the study analyzes perceived barriers to the Chinese military's adoption of AI and emerging technologies (and their potential use and utility in future war), but it is unclear to what extent these perceptions match reality. Not every author is affiliated with the PLA, which likely limits their knowledge of and access to information about sensitive military technologies. Even PLA-affiliated authors may not be aware of the latest advancements in the military's development and adoption of AI and other emerging technologies or be authorized to publicly discuss this information. Therefore, this paper does not make any claims about the influence of the cited authors—or their views—within the PLA or broader Chinese defense establishment.

Second, this report avoids linking known Chinese technologies or capabilities with the cited experts' views of extant AI-enabled systems and related emerging technologies; it solely intends to illustrate how Chinese defense experts perceive barriers to the PLA's efforts to develop and deploy these systems, technologies, and capabilities. Because the information relayed in these articles is aimed primarily at other Chinese defense experts, it is unlikely the authors would intentionally misrepresent or mischaracterize certain technologies or capabilities. That said, scholarly research varies in terms of accuracy and reliability, and as such, the overall assessment presented in this paper is only as precise and comprehensive as its source material.

Third, the report features papers available in the CNKI database up to December 31, 2022, which may not sufficiently capture articles in newer or more specialized journals.

Fourth, the report focuses on only a subset of perceived challenges to AI adoption in the PLA, including those related to technology, standards, and testing and evaluation. Many other concerns are also raised in the articles reviewed for this study, including those surrounding operational concepts and workforce issues, but they are not analyzed below.

Finally, as the Chinese political system tightens, it may become more and more difficult for Chinese experts to voice views at odds with official Party standpoints. Selfcensorship could impact the content of the articles, while state censorship could remove entire publications, thereby skewing the dataset and the analysis. Given the opacity of both the Chinese government and military, however, these articles may provide insights into Chinese strategic thinking on several technological issues that the PLA may be facing as it continues to modernize.

# A Brief Survey of China's Progress Toward AI-Enabled Warfare

Chinese officials believe AI could usher in a new revolution in military affairs (RMA) that could fundamentally alter how future wars are fought.<sup>14</sup> Senior Chinese officials argue the PLA has an opportunity—given China's strong science and technology base—to develop cutting-edge, disruptive AI-enabled military capabilities.<sup>15</sup>

Xi's focus on military modernization has led the PLA to augment its drive to realize scientific and technological advances, or "innovation-driven development."<sup>16</sup> On top of a renewed focus on S&T developments, in 2015 the PLA embarked on significant reforms aimed at driving military modernization and improving the PLA's ability to conduct joint, multi-domain operations.<sup>17</sup> As part of these reforms, the PLA established the Strategic Support Force (SSF) to oversee the development of electronic, psychological, cyber, and space-related military capabilities. The SSF was recently reorganized into the Information Support Force, Cyberspace Force, and Aerospace Force.<sup>18</sup> The Science and Technology Commission, which is tasked with driving science and technology innovation, was formerly under the purview of the General Armament Department but is now a standalone Central Military Commission entity.<sup>19</sup> The PLA has reformed the Academy of Military Science and directed it to combine emerging technologies with novel operational concepts.<sup>20</sup> Additionally, the Chinese military is leaning on a range of defense-related research institutions, as well as defense industry players, to create innovative technologies and concepts for future warfare.<sup>21</sup> In short, China's military reforms and modernization are aimed at helping the PLA develop and field novel technologies, as well as create new operational concepts, in order to become a world-class fighting force by the middle of this century.<sup>22</sup>

Previous research has outlined how the PLA is developing and purchasing a wide range of AI-enabled military systems. For example, CSET research has found that the Chinese military is acquiring AI-enabled technology for intelligence analysis, information warfare, logistics and predictive maintenance, and navigation and target recognition.<sup>23</sup> The PLA is also reportedly developing machine learning for remote sensing and situational awareness; AI-enabled communications technologies that are better protected from jamming; neural networks capable of guiding missiles and hypersonic glide vehicles; unmanned, autonomous air, ground, ocean surface, and underwater vehicles; and AI-enabled data management and fusion capabilities, among other applications.<sup>24</sup>

Chinese defense academics and strategists have authored myriad publications exploring future operating concepts and detailing how AI and other advanced technologies may impact future military capabilities. Previous analysis has found that Chinese strategic thinkers believe that AI and autonomy will increase the speed and improve the effectiveness of military operations and aid in detection, targeting, and strikes.<sup>25</sup> They see improvements in intelligent munitions, aerial drones, and exploitation of intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance (ISR) data as among the most important developments driving advances in warfare. AI will, they argue, enhance battlefield sensing, improve command and control (C2), aid decision-making, and shorten the OODA (observe-orient-decide-act) loop.<sup>26</sup>

# Chinese Experts' Views of AI-Enabled Warfare

Many of the journal articles surveyed for this report feature similarly exuberant expectations. The authors generally believe that advancements in algorithms, communications technologies, sensors, and data processing will lead to improved interconnections among weapons, equipment, and soldiers. Advancements in AI, they claim, will also augment targeting and speed China's development of joint, multi-domain warfighting capabilities. They note how the deployment of next-generation command, control, communications, computers, intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance (C4ISR) systems will provide militaries with better situational awareness, battlefield reconnaissance, long-range precision strikes, and more efficient damage assessments.<sup>27</sup>

Others argue that next-generation technologies such as 5G will ensure "seamless networking among unmanned systems."<sup>28</sup> Some Chinese commentators contend that unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) swarms will improve advanced militaries' ability to strike adversaries.<sup>29</sup> And yet others assert that soldiers and intelligent systems will "seamlessly collaborate," allowing for the execution of joint, multi-domain operations.<sup>30</sup> Autonomous machines will, according to some scholars, vastly reduce the number of humans on future battlefields and expand the depth of the battlespace.<sup>31</sup> Finally, the Chinese experts speculate that technological progress will allow for advances in cyber, psychological, and cognitive warfare.<sup>32</sup>

The above is only a small selection of the diverse predictions that Chinese scholars make about the impact of AI and related emerging technologies on future military capabilities. They are representative, however, of the general view that progress in AI will allow advanced militaries to improve their C4ISR, data analysis, and strike capabilities, gradually remove humans from future battlefields, and field increasingly autonomous systems. AI-enabled gathering and processing of information will, they argue, lead to faster and better decision-making and more precise targeting, allowing the PLA to become a leading fighting force. The integration of emerging technologies with cutting-edge military systems will, in the words of one scholar, lead to a "1+1>2" effect, meaning the next-generation kill chain will be greater than the sum of its parts.<sup>33</sup>

Despite their predictions about AI-enabled improvements in warfighting capabilities, many scholars also voice concerns over the potentially destabilizing effects of AI-enabled military systems. The majority of scholars whose writings are referenced in this report believe emerging technologies could negatively affect strategic stability, leading to the increased incidence of preemptive strikes and arms racing dynamics and complicating escalation control.<sup>34</sup> Moreover, they worry about the proliferation of AI-enabled equipment to terrorists and other non-state actors.<sup>35</sup>

As a consequence, the scholars surveyed here repeatedly note that AI is a "doubleedged sword," as it provides opportunities for military advancement while concurrently amplifying risks.<sup>36</sup> Despite these concerns, they appear to favor developing nextgeneration military capabilities, as their successful operationalization would provide the PLA with its best chance at triumphing over adversaries in future combat.

There is, however, a significant gap between predicted future capabilities and extant technological realities. The remainder of this report focuses on the technological barriers Chinese observers identify that may hinder the PLA's modernization efforts, as well as their recommendations for R&D of specific technologies and capabilities that will, they hope, allow China to overcome its current shortcomings.

# Technological Barriers to Developing and Fielding Military AI and Related Emerging Technologies

U.S. defense officials and industry leaders are concerned that Beijing could surpass Washington in the development and deployment of AI-enabled military capabilities.<sup>37</sup> The majority of the defense experts whose articles are analyzed in this report, however, believe that the United States appears to be ahead of China regarding the military use of AI. Several papers outline publicly reported U.S. tests of AI-enabled systems and argue the United States continues to outpace China in the development of military AI.

Many Chinese scholars also note China's technological deficiencies. One article in the *National Defense Technology* (国防科技) journal, written by authors from the Laboratory for High Technology (高技术实验室) at Tsinghua University (清华大学)—often referred to as China's Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT)—argue that, "compared with other military powers in the world, military intelligence in China is still in its infancy."<sup>38</sup> This is, perhaps, an overstatement of China's relative technological shortcomings. But other scholars also note technical issues with AI and other emerging technologies that hinder their military application both in China and globally. The following sections delve into several perceived technological barriers to the use of AI and other emerging technologies in warfare, including those related to trustworthy AI, data, network and cybersecurity, sensors, communications technologies, standards, and testing and evaluation. In the majority of the following sections, I also discuss the proposed technologies the experts identify that could aid Beijing in overcoming its current deficiencies.

#### Artificial Intelligence Systems: Capabilities, Characteristics, and Concerns

Chinese defense experts believe emerging technologies will increase the speed of combat, battlefield unpredictability, and the fog of war.<sup>39</sup> While they argue that AI-enabled military systems will play a role in creating these conditions, they also note the need to use AI to counteract these potential battlefield eventualities. The thinkers' predictions about the future of AI-enabled systems and their impact on the battlefield, however, are tempered by a notable lack of trust in the technology as it exists today.

The authors voice doubts about the current capabilities of AI technologies, noting that AI is currently "weak," or best suited to handle specific tasks with clear requirements and boundaries.<sup>40</sup> AI still struggles to understand abstract concepts, autonomously reason, and make decisions.<sup>41</sup> Furthermore, it is unable to reason beyond mathematical calculations, rendering systems that employ AI unable to make value judgments or differentiate between combatants and non-combatants on the battlefield.<sup>42</sup> The narrow applicability of AI-enabled systems limits their utility, as well as the broader development of "intelligent warfare," at least in the short term.<sup>43</sup>

Chinese observers also appear to harbor deep concerns that **explainability** gaps could cause humans not to trust AI-generated decision recommendations.<sup>44</sup> Some authors note that lack of explainability poses hidden dangers for AI's application.<sup>45</sup> Other experts articulate concerns about ensuring systems' **predictability** and, perhaps most importantly, **controllability**, as losing control of AI systems could increase the risk of escalation and broader instability.<sup>46</sup>

The authors also express concerns about trust in AI that should be familiar to those in the U.S. military. There is a concern that the systems are insufficiently **robust** or **secure** to operate effectively, given the uncertainties of contemporary or future battlefields, or to be resilient to shifts in the operational environment.<sup>47</sup> Moreover, an overreliance on such AI systems could lead to inadvertent escalation or automation bias.<sup>48</sup>

Given the "slow and immature development" of AI technology, the experts argue that, as AI-enabled and autonomous military systems become increasingly complicated, they will continue to be **unreliable**, **fragile**, and **unstable**, leading to serious safety risks, increased chances of miscalculation, and uncertain efficacy.<sup>49</sup> Due to the increasing complexity of AI systems, some authors worry that configuration errors will lead to security risks.<sup>50</sup> Other authors lament that AI systems' Achilles' heel is their vulnerability to specialized attacks on their software or hardware.<sup>51</sup> Given AI's reliance on high-quality training data, experts note that neural networks trained on insufficient data struggle to generalize their applications and continue to be vulnerable to disruptions such as adversarial samples, or inputs designed to cause machine learning models to make errors.<sup>52</sup>

The scholars also contend that current AI-enabled military systems are prone to algorithmic bias, which could lead to misjudgments, false alarms, and other erroneous outputs that could threaten strategic stability.<sup>53</sup> Given these challenges, as well as those related to guaranteeing safety, at least one expert explicitly notes the importance of exercising caution in applying military AI.<sup>54</sup>

Trustworthy Al Term⁵⁵	Examples of Chinese Commentators' Expressed Concerns
Explainability	<ol> <li>Explainability is one of the main bottlenecks restricting the development of AI technology.<sup>56</sup></li> <li>Machine learning-driven AI algorithms have weak</li> </ol>
	explainability. <sup>57</sup> 3. The "black-box problem" of machine learning limits explainability. <sup>58</sup>
	<ol> <li>Autonomous weapons systems depend on fuzzy logic, neural networks, and deep learning, all of which reduce explainability.<sup>59</sup></li> </ol>
	5. Al algorithms have poor explainability and pose risks should they be used in nuclear command and control or in early warning systems. <sup>60</sup>
	<ol> <li>The lack of explainability negatively impacts trustworthiness.<sup>61</sup></li> </ol>
	<ol> <li>Explainability challenges create hidden dangers for AI application.<sup>62</sup></li> </ol>
	8. Current algorithm explainability is insufficient and, along with trustworthiness, will become the focus of future AI development. <sup>63</sup>
Controllability	<ol> <li>Deploying military AI requires restrictions, due to concerns about the technology's controllability.<sup>64</sup></li> </ol>
	2. Humans may not be able to totally control AI systems, which could endanger society. <sup>65</sup>
Reliability	<ol> <li>AI still has significant limitations regarding reliability, which could make its implementation in military contexts more difficult.<sup>66</sup></li> </ol>
	2. Autonomous weapons systems have reliability issues. <sup>67</sup>

Table 1: Concerns About the Trustworthiness of Current AI-Enabled Systems

	3. Poor reliability of AI-enabled weapons systems could increase the chance of conflict or war between great powers. <sup>68</sup>
Robustness/ Security	<ol> <li>AI still has significant limitations in terms of robustness, increasing its vulnerability.<sup>69</sup></li> <li>Deep neural networks trained on specific datasets are vulnerable to deception through adversarial samples.<sup>70</sup></li> </ol>
Predictability	<ol> <li>AI still has significant limitations in terms of predictability.<sup>71</sup></li> <li>Autonomous weapons systems depend on fuzzy logic, neural networks, and deep learning, which reduce predictability.<sup>72</sup></li> <li>The "black-box problem" of machine learning limits predictability.<sup>73</sup></li> <li>Lack of predictability will increase the risk of accidents and mistakes.<sup>74</sup></li> </ol>
Bias	<ol> <li>Bias is a significant concern, especially regarding image recognition algorithms.<sup>75</sup></li> </ol>

Source: Author's analysis of selected literature.

#### Data

#### Training Data

The militaries that best exploit data will have distinct advantages in tomorrow's wars.<sup>76</sup> In its AI strategy, the U.S. Department of Defense acknowledges both the importance of data and the existing challenges in leveraging data for warfighting.<sup>77</sup> Chinese scholars raise doubts about the PLA's ability to generate, gather, and manage the data necessary for developing and fielding exquisite AI-enabled military systems. Those concerns center on the state of the military's data resources, the overall lack of military-relevant data, and the difficulty of sharing data across different PLA services, arms, systems, and platforms.

First, several scholars discuss issues related to the Chinese military's management and organization of data resources. For example, one paper by experts from the Dalian Naval Academy (海军大连舰艇学院) explains that some military data is written on paper and seldom digitized.<sup>78</sup> This practice creates inaccuracies and increases the difficulty of circulating the data, causing it to be less useful since other portions of the military cannot use it to train their own systems.<sup>79</sup> Moreover, some experts claim that PLA does a poor job of tracking data assets and making them visible to both organizations in the military and defense suppliers.<sup>80</sup> Such deficiencies may hamper the PLA's ability to make full use of its data resources.

The scholars are also concerned about Beijing's access to data for training AI systems.<sup>81</sup> Given that China has not fought a war in over four decades, they worry Beijing does not possess the requisite combat data on which to train intelligent weapons.<sup>82</sup> Scholars note that some of China's military data comes from exercises that lack the scale and intensity of actual combat, which may lead the system to work differently in combat than it did in its training environment.<sup>83</sup> Moreover, simulations are time-consuming and expensive.<sup>84</sup> Relatedly, some scholars worry that data generated in such training environments will be difficult to use in preparation for actual warfare, as the conditions of future battles will likely be considerably different.<sup>85</sup> The limited training data increases the chances AI models will be poorly generalizable, limiting their effectiveness in diverse situations.<sup>86</sup>

Others argue that because AI-enabled military systems generate substantially less data than civilian technologies, they are more difficult to train.<sup>87</sup> Interestingly, some claim that, due to the complexity of modern combat, the fog of war, and potential adversary deception, it is difficult to credibly label data generated in battle, further complicating the training of AI-enabled systems.<sup>88</sup> Moreover, some Chinese experts warn of the difficulty, if not impossibility, of using data to give AI weapons combat experience or the ability to fully understand the complexities of future battles, calling into question their trustworthiness and perhaps even their utility.<sup>89</sup> Such concerns illustrate the difficulties of fielding AI systems that are effective across a range of complex scenarios.

To address these data-related challenges, Chinese authors advocate employing four main strategies: more deliberately capturing and shepherding data; using data science techniques to enhance or expand on small datasets; utilizing human-machine teaming; and partnering with commercial firms that may have, or could create, useful data.

Chinese scholars recommend accelerating research on and development of innovative technologies and methods that do not rely on large amounts of labeled data, such as through the use of parallel systems to optimize AI algorithms for use in previously unknown environments, a technique used to work around limited data samples.<sup>90</sup> Through such innovations, they argue, the Chinese military can break through existing data limitations.<sup>91</sup> Others call for research into simulating the generation of multi-source data and using data-enhancement technologies to expand limited data sources.<sup>92</sup>

While some Chinese defense experts believe Beijing should invest in enlarging its data resources, others emphasize the need to develop learning algorithms for small samples, including through the Bayesian program learning method and transfer learning, or using extant samples to solve problems in similar fields.<sup>93</sup> Interestingly, they point out the possibility of overcoming limited military data samples by leveraging human knowledge, or combining data with knowledge graphs that machines can comprehend.<sup>94</sup> Outside of simply generating more data or adopting special tools to train on limited samples, some authors call for partnering with commercial firms that specialize in data processing. Such military-civil fusion arrangements can, they contend, reduce the military's data processing costs and improve the quality of training data.<sup>95</sup>

#### Data Processing/Analysis

Chinese scholars are well aware of the potential of advanced data fusion technologies, which promise enhanced situational awareness, faster decision-making, and more precise strikes. Chinese commentators note the need to develop an "all-weather multi-dimensional situational awareness network to realize real-time, accurate and comprehensive understanding and control of the battlefield situation," which they hope to create in part through improved data processing capabilities.<sup>96</sup>

As with aforementioned technologies, however, Chinese observers describe several technical issues plaguing China's extant data processing or analysis capabilities. Some argue that current ISR and weapons systems generate a huge quantity of heterogeneous data that is difficult to process in real time.<sup>97</sup> As noted above, however, questions surrounding the explainability and reliability of such systems have led to concerns over the current limits of the technology.<sup>98</sup> Other experts point out compute-related shortcomings of China's current data fusion technologies.<sup>99</sup> Finally, some analysts note that it remains difficult for the Chinese military to integrate information from radar, electro-optical, sonar, and other sensors with data fusion capabilities.<sup>100</sup>

Given the importance of accurate and reliable data processing and analysis, Chinese experts offer several recommendations aimed at improving China's capabilities. Some argue that it is imperative that China make advances in cloud computing, big data analysis, and data mining in order to find correlations among the large amount of data generated in advance of and during combat.<sup>101</sup> Several Chinese authors argue in favor of developing technologies to analyze the data produced by military equipment in order to perform fault diagnosis and improve predictive maintenance, while others claim breakthroughs in quantum computing would make possible exquisite data fusion capabilities.<sup>102</sup>

While the vast majority of the articles surveyed in this study were published in advance of the October 7, 2022, U.S. export controls on semiconductors, a few papers note the importance of domestically developing the semiconductor hardware that fuels ever-more capable computers that can sift through troves of data.<sup>103</sup>

#### Network and Cyber Security

Related to their concerns over security and robustness, many Chinese scholars view extant AI systems as highly vulnerable to cyberattacks and other disruptions. While discussing a 2011 cyberattack on U.S. Predator and Reaper drones at Nevada's Creech Air Force Base, the PLA-affiliated authors of one article in the journal *Foreign Affairs Review* (外交评论) note that even the world's most advanced militaries remain vulnerable to cyber intrusions. They describe the difficulties of protecting against network paralysis, where computer networks, systems, or infrastructure are severely disrupted or rendered inoperable; preventing algorithm tampering; and avoiding data destruction.<sup>104</sup> Other scholars also warn that adversaries could contaminate AI systems' training data, leading those systems to make errors and potentially become unusable.<sup>105</sup> The more data one has, the more difficult it is to protect, and the greater the chance that adversaries can modify data and tamper with algorithms.<sup>106</sup> Finally, some experts worry that attacks on computer systems can damage information processing and control capabilities, and even allow an adversary to gain control of these systems.<sup>107</sup>

The Chinese defense experts contend that the inability to know whether an adversary has penetrated friendly networks magnifies risks surrounding AI's trustworthiness.<sup>108</sup> Some authors posit that countries' inability to fully protect themselves from cyberattacks, coupled with the speed at which such intrusions occur, could lead to the outbreak and escalation of wars.<sup>109</sup> Some scholars even worry that cyber and autonomous weapons might be used to attack nuclear weapons, their delivery vehicles, command and control systems, or other infrastructure, all of which could threaten strategic stability and cause crises.<sup>110</sup>

Given doubts about the cybersecurity of networks employing AI technologies, many Chinese scholars recommend developing cyber-related technologies and methods to protect against future intrusions. While some experts note the potential importance of cognitive computing and intelligent vulnerability detection technologies to better protect AI systems, others argue that adopting elastic, or resilient, network designs and following a "zero-trust" cybersecurity model can improve cyber defenses.<sup>111</sup> Blockchain, others argue, can prevent data tampering and promote decentralization, and thus protect the system from infiltration even if a single network node is compromised.<sup>112</sup>

#### Sensors

Chinese scholars note the importance of highly-capable sensors for ISR, particularly for undersea detection and tracking of submarines, as well as for satellite detection of conventional and nuclear weapons.<sup>113</sup> As with some of the previously mentioned

technologies, however, Chinese scholars outline a series of issues with China's extant sensors, as well as challenges in fusing the data from disparate sensors.<sup>114</sup>

For example, an article by the vice chairman of the China Sensors and IoT Industry Alliance (中国传感器与物联网产业联盟) spells out several issues not only with China's domestically developed sensor technology, but also with the country's broader sensor industry. According to the author, China produces a large variety of sensors, but their quality and technical level remain well below those of the most advanced international sensor manufacturers, making it difficult for China to compete in many high-tech fields.<sup>115</sup> Because competitors have long produced high-level sensors, Chinese firms have trouble breaking in and gaining market access.<sup>116</sup>

Other commentators note operational domain-related sensor shortcomings. For example, some authors claim that complex, variable ground environments present significant obstacles for sensors.<sup>117</sup> Some experts note issues with sensing ships at sea, due to environmental factors unique to maritime operations, as well as the difficulty of discriminating between military and civilian ships in crowded areas.<sup>118</sup> Still others note the shortcomings of underwater sensors, which they view as insufficiently capable.<sup>119</sup> Finally, some argue that military equipment still lacks satisfactory battlefield perception capabilities.<sup>120</sup>

Chinese authors couple these concerns with a clear understanding of how emerging technologies can be developed to deceive or evade sensors. They note that Chinese hypersonic missiles are effective in part because they have reduced radar reflection areas, relatively flat trajectories, and minimized infrared signatures that can confound U.S. radars and space-based infrared sensors.<sup>121</sup> They are concerned, however, that their own sensors are vulnerable to similar deceptions, including through the use of electro-optical false targets and camouflage.<sup>122</sup>

Looking ahead, the aforementioned vice chairman of the sensor industry alliance notes that industry is concerned that it will be "impossible" for Chinese sensor companies to obtain cutting-edge technologies and processes from developed countries due to the U.S.-China trade and technology competition.<sup>123</sup> Therefore, he argues, China must create a robust industrial policy aimed at funding companies engaged in developing

semiconductors, ceramics, organic polymer materials, and optical fibers for use in cutting-edge sensors.<sup>124</sup> Perhaps most importantly, he notes the need to improve sensor quality while making them smaller, more reliable, and more energy-efficient.<sup>125</sup> Rather than focusing only on cutting-edge sensors, some scholars claim that proliferating sensors in multiple domains—for example, underwater surveillance systems and satellite remote sensing for submarine detection—can improve situational awareness.<sup>126</sup> They argue, therefore, for using vast quantities of sensors to overcome their quality limitations.

#### Communications Technologies

Chinese strategic thinkers believe communications networks will play critical roles in future battles, but they appear concerned about their current state of development. The following section details issues with communications technologies, some of which are directly related to AI and some of which are not.

Central to anxieties surrounding extant military communications technology is that it is difficult to establish and maintain links with high bandwidth, low latency, and enough capacity to handle ever-growing information transmission requirements.<sup>127</sup> This is especially worrisome regarding video data, which drones and other sensors are generating in greater quantities.<sup>128</sup> Scholars worry that bandwidth issues will impede the transmission of high quantities of data for real-time analysis and processing.<sup>129</sup> Given their dependence on legacy technology, parts of China's military will continue to rely on expensive and fragile data links for some time.<sup>130</sup> Other Chinese experts point out that the collection and processing of information is largely limited to single platforms, and that it is often "impossible" to transfer information from that machine to data processing centers in real time.<sup>131</sup> Data transmission volume limitations and lags degrade military effectiveness, as they imperil command and control and data processing.

Chinese scholars who have weighed in on this issue appear especially concerned about data links for both UAVs and UUVs (unmanned underwater vehicles). With regard to the former, some authors note how jamming and other electronic warfare methods disrupt links with ground stations and imperil the utility of these systems.<sup>132</sup> UAV

reliance on ground or air relays also poses reliability issues, while satellite communications can suffer from slow speeds and long delays.<sup>133</sup> Other experts note that current communications technologies lack the latency, bandwidth, reliability, and quality of service (QoS) that future semi-autonomous UAVs will require to be fully effective.<sup>134</sup> Furthermore, the network requirements for aerial swarms, which must constantly share data with other swarm nodes, are more complex than the comparatively simple remote-control links that simply transit data from drone to operator and back again.<sup>135</sup>

Sub-sea environments pose significant difficulties in the operation of UUVs. Communications are very limited underwater, making it difficult—if not impossible—to establish long-range data transmission links.<sup>136</sup> Such issues complicate operational and tactical coordination among undersea vehicles and other forces.<sup>137</sup>

While some scholars argue it is necessary to boost autonomy to avoid many of the pitfalls of poor-quality or disrupted communications, others note that China should conduct further research on communications networks to increase their stability, decrease delays, and improve bandwidth.<sup>138</sup> The Chinese experts offer a range of suggestions for future communications-related R&D priorities, ranging from multi-hop transmission for underwater networks to cognitive radio technology to reduce disruptions from electromagnetic interference, as well as the use of blockchain technology to guarantee data transmission in contested environments.<sup>139</sup>

Among the more popular recommendations, however, are the use of Internet of Things (IoT) technology and 5G-enabled communications networks. The former can be used to create more robust combat network systems, while the latter boasts higher bandwidth and transmission rates than traditional communications networks.<sup>140</sup> Such technologies can, some Chinese observers argue, enable drone swarm operations, ensure the efficiency of communications, and reduce costs.<sup>141</sup>

On top of IoT and 5G, several scholars believe that decentralized, dynamic, selforganizing networks will define future communications infrastructures. Ordinary data links have static networks that cannot reorganize in real time, but these nextgeneration networks are better positioned to support coordinated operations.<sup>142</sup> Dynamic networks, some Chinese commentators claim, can form temporary links for specific missions on demand.<sup>143</sup> Decentralized networks, on the other hand, can be less vulnerable to disruption and achieve greater flexibility.<sup>144</sup> The ability to quickly adapt to drone attrition or electromagnetic interference, especially for autonomous swarms and coordinated missile formations, will likely prove crucial to maintaining effectiveness in the highly contested battlefield environments of the future.

#### Standards

Despite China's rapid military modernization, several scholars point out that the PLA has insufficient standards for the development and deployment of key enabling technologies, such as deep learning and data use, collection and management, as well as for the creation and management of broader combat systems that rely on those technologies. As with the preceding section, the following one also covers communications technologies, only some of which are related to AI.

According to RAND Corporation studies, Chinese experts appear to believe that future wars will be won by the force that has superior systems of military systems, and the PLA is now focused on developing synergized military operational systems that, the experts believe, will allow it to triumph over adversarial systems.<sup>145</sup> The authors of the papers reviewed for this report agree that developing such systems is crucial, but they appear concerned that the PLA's insufficiently robust military standards may impede its efforts to create them.

For example, many Chinese defense experts note the importance of various aspects of combat "system construction."<sup>146</sup> Such systems should be interoperable and share core design elements, which would obviate the current trend toward development in "scattered and chaotic conditions."<sup>147</sup> Drawing lessons from the United States, some scholars claim that the U.S. military's struggles with inter-system interoperability have led it to postpone scaling up unmanned capabilities while it focuses on efforts to create inter-system interoperability among existing unmanned systems, as well as among manned and unmanned systems.<sup>148</sup>

The Chinese experts note the importance of hardware and software standardization, modularization, and serialization in order to rapidly integrate and upgrade weapons

systems, as well as to construct a flexible and resilient combat system.<sup>149</sup> Without standardization, modularization, and serialization, combat systems—especially those reliant on software—will likely be rigid and fragile, making them vulnerable in future wars.<sup>150</sup> Others note that systemization, generalization, and modularization will also be critical for AI-enabled hardware such as missiles and unmanned equipment systems.<sup>151</sup>

They note, however, that military standardization remains insufficient. In particular, they contend that both intelligent weapons and equipment are still in the early stages of standardization.<sup>152</sup> As noted above, some commentators point out that China's data collection, use, and management practices lack standards, while others argue that UUVs and USVs (unmanned surface vehicles), as well as intelligent support equipment, are being developed in the absence of robust standards.<sup>153</sup> Given these shortcomings, the experts advocate for a variety of standard-building measures.

Several experts call for the creation of standards for algorithms, data, communications networks, and the testing and evaluation of intelligent weapons to allow for the shared planning, design, construction, and testing of combat systems.<sup>154</sup> Some scholars point out the potential utility of establishing organizations to formulate industry standards.<sup>155</sup> Other analysts claim that research aimed at creating shared technical standards for the development of deep learning and neural networks, as well as for big data, cloud computing, and IoT, would support the creation and maintenance of advanced defense systems that depend on these enabling technologies.<sup>156</sup> Others argue for the formulation of standards, including design specifications and manufacturing process standards, for specific defense applications including missiles, UUVs and USVs, as well as encryption systems.<sup>157</sup> Still others note the importance of creating open architectures, modularity and part interchangeability, testing and evaluation practices, and data transmission integration in order to improve inter-system interoperability.<sup>158</sup>

#### Testing and Evaluation

The Chinese scholars generally agree that testing and evaluation (T&E) is essential for promoting trust in intelligent systems and establishing their combat effectiveness.<sup>159</sup> They also, however, openly express concerns about China's T&E regime for AI-enabled systems.

Some scholars see numerous issues obstructing China's path toward establishing robust T&E regimes. For example, they note that, due to the complexities and uncertainties of future wars, it is not feasible to test autonomous weapons systems in all possible scenarios, making it impossible to fully evaluate them.<sup>160</sup> They also argue that tests themselves may cause safety issues.<sup>161</sup> Some complain about the high costs associated with performing T&E experiments, while others, as noted above, point out the lack of T&E standards crucial to guiding the systematic development of AI-enabled military systems.<sup>162</sup> Finally, experts point out the difficulties associated with evaluating the intelligence of various AI-enabled systems.<sup>163</sup> Such difficulties lead to lack of trust in systems whose level of intelligence cannot be easily verified or validated.<sup>164</sup>

Since T&E protocols for AI-enabled military systems have only relatively recently become an area of focus, the papers feature more detailed discussions about how to establish or improve these regimes than analysis of extant T&E-related problems. Some authors, for instance, call for the formulation of T&E standards for multiple AI-related applications, such as human-machine teaming, brain-computer interfaces, weapons and equipment systems, UAV swarms, and semiconductors.<sup>165</sup> Others argue that China should develop standard datasets for testing and evaluating AI-enabled missile systems.<sup>166</sup> Still others offer specific recommendations for establishing frameworks for simulation techniques, especially for algorithms and weapons, and for constructing dedicated testing facilities for unmanned equipment, among other uses.<sup>167</sup>

Several scholars also note the importance of extensive T&E practices to build the systems of operational systems the PLA will rely on to fight future wars. As discussed throughout this paper, weapons systems rely on communications networks, sensors, and data processing systems, which, if they are not individually tested, might not be reliable. Therefore, some scholars argue that all parties involved in developing intelligent weapons, from device manufacturers to network suppliers and end users, should put their products through rigorous tests before linking the individual systems together to form systems of systems.<sup>168</sup> Others contend that such tests can support the integration and combat applications of military systems.<sup>169</sup> In short, Chinese scholars acknowledge that T&E is an issue at both the component and system levels. It is not enough to test an individual drone. Rather, that drone must be tested by itself and then as a component of a larger system of drones in a swarm, for example.

# **Key Findings**

It would be unwise to take the Chinese experts' arguments outlined above purely at face value. Many of the authors are not affiliated with the PLA, which likely limits their knowledge of China's cutting-edge military AI and related emerging technology development. That said, even PLA affiliates may not be aware of China's latest military technology breakthroughs. Finally, those that are privy to such sensitive information would be unlikely to discuss it publicly.

It is, however, notable that many experts point out a wide range of concerns with the current state of the technologies that, should they further develop, might allow the PLA to better develop and deploy military AI and related emerging capabilities. These papers, therefore, reveal a subset of the Chinese strategic community's insecurities about the development and fielding of cutting-edge military technologies. Below, I outline several of this report's most notable findings.

## First, Chinese defense experts anticipate that AI and other emerging technologies will have a significant impact on future military operations and could provide the PLA with an opportunity to leapfrog the United States.

In line with the findings from previously published analyses of Chinese defense scholars' views on the future of warfare, the articles referenced in this report argue that AI-enabled military systems could revolutionize warfare. AI, Chinese analysts claim, could allow China to develop joint, multi-domain warfighting capabilities that it currently lacks. Moreover, improved C4ISR will allow for more precise strikes, superior situational awareness, and more comprehensive battlefield damage assessments. Technological advances will help humans and machines seamlessly collaborate, while UAV swarms and hypersonic missiles will augment militaries' abilities to strike adversaries.

The Chinese scholars surveyed in this review tend to believe that the PLA has an opportunity to overtake the U.S. military should it quickly and effectively develop and operationalize AI and related emerging technologies and capabilities.

# Second, that said, Chinese defense experts are concerned that the PLA is lagging behind the U.S. military in AI and related emerging technology development and deployment.

Whereas U.S. experts increasingly voice concern that China has overtaken the United States in the development and adoption of military applications of AI and related emerging technologies, the articles reviewed in this paper reveal an inverse anxiety across the Pacific; Chinese scholars believe the United States is ahead in the race to develop and field AI-enabled military systems.<sup>170</sup>

# Third, Chinese defense experts identify certain challenges in developing and fielding military AI systems, which are similar to those the U.S. military appears to be facing.

The U.S. military's AI development efforts are not the focus of this paper. Moreover, the report does not provide systematic comparisons of U.S. and Chinese experts' views of each country's AI-related challenges. That said, based on publicly available assessments of the U.S. military's AI development and adoption efforts and statements made by U.S. military officials, both countries do seem to be dealing with similar sets of issues related to developing and deploying the AI and related emerging capabilities detailed in this paper.<sup>171</sup> They seem to be facing challenges related to creating trustworthy military AI, as well as to managing and fully exploiting data resources while preserving the integrity of communications and computer networks.

### Fourth, the authors also identify challenges that may be especially relevant to China and the PLA regarding the development and adoption of military AI and related emerging technologies.

Specifically, the Chinese observers surveyed in this paper note difficulties collecting, managing, and using military-relevant data to train military AI systems, as well as developing the high-quality sensors experts believe will be needed to fight next-generation wars. Some scholars have also noted concerns about the state of China's communications and cybersecurity systems, and their ability to connect vast arrays of sensors and process the information they generate. These observed shortcomings and obstacles raise important questions about China's progress toward implementing its

systems warfare concept, which is a central aspect of China's theory of victory in future wars.<sup>172</sup>

The authors' views on China's apparent deficiencies related to establishing standards and T&E protocols also merit mention. A lack of military standards complicates the development of interoperable systems, while poor T&E practices create obstacles to trusting AI-enabled systems, determining their efficacy, and training them for future wars in complex environments. According to these papers, the lack of robust standards and T&E resources are some of the most serious threats China faces in creating the systems that would allow it to fight future wars according to its nascent operational concepts.<sup>173</sup>

# Fifth, Chinese defense scholars voice concerns about AI risks and the trustworthiness of AI systems.

Chinese scholars' aforementioned concerns about the explainability, robustness, controllability, and overall trustworthiness of AI systems reveal doubts about the current state of the technology. Potentially more significant, however, are the scholars' misgivings about using AI technologies that are not explainable, predictable, or controllable. They explain that such deficiencies could lead to unwanted outbreaks and escalations of wars, as well as to civilian and friendly force targeting by autonomous systems. Moreover, they note that insufficiently trustworthy systems may be less effective for military operations overall, as such shortcomings will inevitably threaten operator trust, making soldiers less likely to use them effectively (or at all).

In short, the majority of experts who discuss the shortcomings of AI systems question whether the technology can be used responsibly and effectively, at least in its current state. Notably, these doubts are largely in line with the Department of Defense's own concerns about using AI systems that are insufficiently trustworthy in operational settings.

# Conclusion

This report analyzes 59 papers by Chinese defense experts in order to glean insights into the areas in which China may be facing technology-related barriers to developing and deploying AI and related emerging technologies and capabilities. According to these experts, the PLA still faces significant issues related to trustworthy AI, data management and use, sensor technology, network and cybersecurity, communications networks, standards, and T&E that may hinder the PLA's military modernization in the short to medium term. Moreover, Chinese scholars' concerns about the risks associated with unproven AI technologies reveals that at least some members of the Chinese strategic community may have misgivings about using unproven capabilities in war.

Such perceptions indicate that the United States and China may be well-served by developing and maintaining dialogue channels through which to discuss the risks posed by AI. Though the initial U.S.-China AI discussions held in Geneva in May 2024 revealed bilateral tensions over AI-related issues, they were nonetheless a step in the right direction.<sup>174</sup>

In the current climate, however, it would be difficult to conduct military-focused dialogues on AI that lead to binding agreements. That said, the two sides could conduct bilateral discussions on limiting the role of AI in nuclear command and control, setting standards for testing and evaluating AI-enabled military systems, and creating confidence-building measures.<sup>175</sup> Such exchanges could lead to improved mutual understanding and, perhaps, forestall military AI arms racing dynamics.

#### Author

Sam Bresnick is a research fellow at CSET.

#### Acknowledgements

For their feedback and assistance, the author would like to thank Emelia Probasco, Margarita Konaev, Michael O'Connor, and Kyle Miller. The author is also grateful to Victoria Wu, Scott Harold, Nathan Beauchamp-Mustafaga, and Chris Meserole for their comprehensive reviews. Finally, the author thanks Daniel Chou for data assistance, Ben Murphy and Matt Mahoney for fact-checking the report, Shelton Fitch and Susan Moynihan for editorial support, as well as Jahnavi Mukul and Jason Ly for formatting and graphic design.



© 2024 by the Center for Security and Emerging Technology. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial 4.0 International License.

To view a copy of this license, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.

Document Identifier: doi: 10.51593/20230042

# Appendix A

A CNKI snapshot was generated on March 30, 2023. The author aggregated the CNKI papers published between January 1, 2020 and December 31, 2022 with titles or abstracts that contained the following combinations of keywords related to AI, weaponry, and nuclear deterrence:

English Keywords	Chinese Keywords
deterrence + artificial intelligence	威慑 + 人工智能
deterrence + machine learning	威慑 + 机器学习
nuclear weapons + artificial intelligence	威慑 + 人工智能
nuclear weapons + machine learning	威慑 + 机器学习
strategic stability + artificial intelligence	战略稳定 + 人工智能
strategic stability + machine learning	战略稳定 + 机器学习
weapon + artificial intelligence	武器 + 人工智能

Below are counts of the most frequently observed author affiliations and journals among the 59 cited articles.

Counts of Top Author Affiliations		Counts of Articles in Top Journals	
National University of Defense Technology (中国人民解放军国防科学技术大学)	14	National Defense Technology (国防科技)	9
Northwest Institute of Mechanical & Electrical Engineering (西北机电工程研究所)	6	Military Digest (军事文摘)	5
CETC Key Laboratory of Data Link Technology (中国电子科技集团公司数据链技术重 点实验室)	5	Defence Science & Technology Industry (国防科技工业)	2
China Academy of Electronics and Information Technology (中国电子科学研究院)	4	Aerodynamic Missile Journal (飞航导弹)	2
Dalian Naval Academy (海军大连舰艇学院)	4	Dual Use Technologies & Products (军民两用技术与产品)	2
Shanghai Mechanical-Electronic Engineering Institute (上海机电工程研究所)	4	Journal of China Academy of Electronics and Information Technology (中国电子科学研究院学报)	2
Xi'an Microelectronics Technology Institute (西安微电子技术研究所)	4	Measurement & Control Technology (测控技术)	2

Source: Author's analysis of selected literature.

### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Katrina Manson, "US Has Already Lost AI Fight to China, Says Ex-Pentagon Software Chief," *Financial Times*, October 10, 2021, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/f939db9a-40af-4bd1-b67d-10492535f8e0</u>; Vera Bergengruen, "Tech Leaders Warn the U.S. Is Falling Behind China on AI," *TIME*, July 18, 2023, https://time.com/6295586/military-ai-warfare-alexandr-wang/.

<sup>2</sup> National Security Commission on Artificial Intelligence, "Final Report," 95, <u>https://assets.foleon.com/eu-central-1/de-uploads-7e3kk3/48187/nscai\_full\_report\_digital.04d6b124173c.pdf</u>.

<sup>3</sup> *NIDS China Security Report 2021* (Tokyo, Japan: The National Institute for Defense Studies), 11–15, <u>https://www.nids.mod.go.jp/publication/chinareport/pdf/china\_report\_EN\_web\_2021\_A01.pdf.</u>

<sup>4</sup> "Xi Jinping's Report at the Chinese Communist Party 19th National Congress" (习近平在中国共产党第十 九次全国代表大会上的报告), *Xinhua*, October 18, 2017, <u>http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/download/Xi\_Jinping's\_report\_at\_19th\_CPC\_National\_Congress.pdf</u>.

<sup>5</sup> "Xi Jinping's Report at the Chinese Communist Party 19th National Congress."

<sup>6</sup> Michael Dahm, "Chinese Debates on the Military Utility of Artificial Intelligence," *War on the Rocks,* June 5, 2020, <u>https://warontherocks.com/2020/06/chinese-debates-on-the-military-utility-of-artificial-intelligence/</u>.

<sup>7</sup> "Lt. Gen. Liu Guozhi: The Development of Military Intelligentization Is a Strategic Opportunity for Our Military to Turn Sharply to Surpass" [刘国治中将:军事智能化发展是我军弯道超车的战略机遇], CCTV News, October 22, 2017, <u>http://mil.news.sina.com.cn/china/2017-10-22/doc-ifymzqpq3312566.shtml</u>.

<sup>8</sup> Original CSET Translation of Outline of the People's Republic of China 14th Five-Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development and Long-Range Objectives for 2035 [中华人民共和国国民经济和社会发展第十四个五年规划和 2035 年远景目标纲要], *Xinhua*, March 12, 2021, 130, <a href="https://cset.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/t0284\_14th\_Five\_Year\_Plan\_EN.pdf">https://cset.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/t0284\_14th\_Five\_Year\_Plan\_EN.pdf</a>.

<sup>9</sup> Elsa B. Kania, "Testimony before the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission Hearing on Trade, Technology, and Military-Civil Fusion," June 7, 2019, 3, <u>https://s3.us-east-</u> <u>1.amazonaws.com/files.cnas.org/backgrounds/documents/June-7-Hearing\_Panel-1\_Elsa-Kania\_Chinese-</u> <u>Military-Innovation-in-Artificial-Intelligence.pdf?mtime=20190617115242 focal=none.</u>

<sup>10</sup> Ryan Fedasiuk, "Chinese Perspectives on AI and Future Military Capabilities" (Center for Security and Emerging Technology, August 2020), <u>https://cset.georgetown.edu/publication/chinese-perspectives-on-ai-and-future-military-capabilities/</u>.

<sup>11</sup> Kevin Pollpeter and Amanda Kerrigan, "The PLA and Intelligent Warfare: A Preliminary Analysis" (Center for Naval Analyses, October 2021), <u>https://www.cna.org/reports/2021/10/The-PLA-and-</u> <u>Intelligent-Warfare-A-Preliminary-Analysis.pdf</u>; Alison A. Kaufman and Brian Waidelich, "PRC Writings on Strategic Deterrence" (Center for Naval Analyses, February 2023), <u>https://www.cna.org/reports/2023/04/PRC-Writings-on-Strategic-Deterrence.pdf</u>; Ryan Fedasiuk, "Chinese Perspectives on AI and Future Military Capabilities."

<sup>12</sup> Elsa B. Kania and Lorand Laskai, "Myths and Realities of China's Military-Civil Fusion Strategy" (Center for a New American Security, January 28, 2021), <u>https://www.cnas.org/publications/reports/myths-and-</u> <u>realities-of-chinas-military-civil-fusion-strategy</u>; Michael Dahm, "Chinese Debates on the Military Utility of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>13</sup> I used Baidu Baike (百度百科) to determine the organizations that oversee each of the Chinese journals.

<sup>14</sup> Elsa B. Kania, "Artificial Intelligence in China's Revolution in Military Affairs," *Journal of Strategic Studies* Volume 44, Issue 4 (May 25, 2021), <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01402390.2021.1894136</u>.

<sup>15</sup> "Lt. Gen. Liu Guozhi: The Development of Military Intelligentization Is a Strategic Opportunity for Our Military to Overtake Other Countries."

<sup>16</sup> Mei Shixiong and Fan Yongqiang, "Launching the Innovation Engine to Revitalize the Military—Military Representatives Discuss Rejuvenating the Military through Science and Technology" (发动强军兴军的创新引擎——军队代表委员热议科技兴军), *Xinhua News Agency*, March 11, 2019, <a href="https://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2019-03/11/content\_5372987.htm">https://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2019-03/11/content\_5372987.htm</a>.

<sup>17</sup> Phillip C. Saunders and Joel Wuthnow, "Conclusion: Assessing Chinese Military Reforms," in *Chairman Xi Remakes the PLA: Assessing Chinese Military Reforms*, Phillip C. Saunders, Arthur S. Ding, et al., eds. (Washington, D.C.: National Defense University Press, 2019),

https://ndupress.ndu.edu/Media/News/News-Article-View/Article/1748793/conclusion-assessing-chinese-military-reforms/.

<sup>18</sup> Brendan S. Mulvaney, "The PLA's New Information Support Force," *China Aerospace Studies Institute*, April 22, 2024, <u>https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/CASI/Display/Article/3749754/the-plas-new-information-support-force/</u>.

<sup>19</sup> Joel Wuthnow and Phillip C. Saunders, "Introduction Appendix: Central Military Commission Reforms," in *Chairman Xi Remakes the PLA: Assessing Chinese Military Reforms*, Phillip C. Saunders, Arthur S. Ding, et al., eds. (Washington, D.C.: National Defense University Press, 2019), <u>https://ndupress.ndu.edu/Media/News/News-Article-View/Article/1752065/introduction-appendix-</u> <u>central-military-commission-reforms/</u>.

<sup>20</sup> Elsa B. Kania, "Testimony before the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission Hearing on Trade, Technology, and Military-Civil Fusion."

<sup>21</sup> Elsa B. Kania, "Testimony before the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission Hearing on Trade, Technology, and Military-Civil Fusion."

<sup>22</sup> "Xi Jinping's Report at the Chinese Communist Party 19th National Congress."

<sup>23</sup> Ryan Fedasiuk, Jennifer Melot, and Ben Murphy, "Harnessed Lightning."

<sup>24</sup> Elsa B. Kania, "Testimony before the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission Hearing on Trade, Technology, and Military-Civil Fusion."

<sup>25</sup> Kevin Pollpeter and Amanda Kerrigan, "The PLA and Intelligent Warfare: A Preliminary Analysis"; Ryan Fedasiuk, "Chinese Perspectives on AI and Future Military Capabilities."

<sup>26</sup> Phillip C. Saunders and David C. Logan, "The Implications of the PLA's Nuclear Expansion and Modernization for China's Crisis," in *China's Military Decision-Making in Times of Crisis and Conflict*, Roy D. Kamphausen, ed. (Seattle, WA and Washington, D.C.: National Bureau of Asian Research, 2023), 70, <u>https://www.nbr.org/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/publications/chinas-military-decision-</u> <u>making\_sep2023.pdf</u>.

<sup>27</sup> Liu Jun and Wang Wenhua, "Autonomy Will Become a Prominent Feature of Future Wars" (自主化将成为未来战争的显著特征), *Defence Science & Technology Industry*, September 15, 2021.

<sup>28</sup> Xie Jing and Zhang Rui-jian, "Research on the Scientific and Technological Innovations and Military Applications in Networking and Information Major Fields of the United States" (美军网信前沿重点领域科技创新与军事应用研究), *Journal of China Academy of Electronics and Information Technology*, October 20, 2021.

<sup>29</sup> Liu Jun and Wang Wenhua, "Autonomy Will Become a Prominent Feature of Future Wars."

<sup>30</sup> Wu Ji, Liu Shulei, Deng Qiwen, and Xu Haiyang, "The Development of New-Generation AI and Its Military Impacts" (新一代人工智能发展及其对军事领域影响分析), *National Defense Technology*, August 30, 2022.

<sup>31</sup> Xie Jing and Zhang Rui-jian, "Research on the Scientific and Technological Innovations and Military Applications in Networking and Information Major Fields of the United States" (美军网信前沿重点领域科 技创新与军事应用研究), *Journal of China Academy of Electronics and Information Technology*, October 20, 2021; Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems" (致命性自主武器系统军备控制态势分析), *National Defense Technology*, August 30, 2021.

<sup>32</sup> Wu Qingping and Li Gaoyu, "Thoughts on Problems in the Construction of Combat Systems in Unmanned and Intelligent Warfare" (无人化智能化战争形态下的作战体系建设问题思考), *Military Digest*, November 1, 2021.

<sup>33</sup> Wei Chaohui, Sun Zhongju, Gao Guiqing, and Zhang Chong, "Thoughts on the Development of Intelligent Missile Weapons" (关于智能化导弹武器发展的思考), *Defense Industry Conversion in China*, August 30, 2021.

<sup>34</sup> Zhang Huang and Du Yanyun, "The Development Trend and Security Impact of the Militarization of Artificial Intelligence" (人工智能军事化发展态势及其安全影响), *Foreign Affairs Review*, May 5, 2022; Cai Cuihong and Dai Liting, "The Impact Path of Artificial Intelligence on Shaping the Composite Strategic Stability: A Model-Based Examination" (人工智能影响复合战略稳定的作用路径:基于模型的考察), *Journal of International Security Studies*, May 17, 2022.

<sup>35</sup> Leng Xinyu, "Principle of Meaningful Human Control under Topic of Lethal Autonomous Weapon System" (致命性自主武器系统议题下有意义的人类控制原则), *Journal of International Law*, June 15, 2022; Long Kun and Xu Nengwu, "AI's Military Applications: Risks and Governance" (人工智能军事应用的国际 安全风险与治理路径), *Global Review*, September 7, 2022.

<sup>36</sup> Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method" (人工智能在军事通信网络中的应用:基于"零信任"方法), *Digital Communication World*, February 1, 2021.

<sup>37</sup> Katrina Manson, "US Has Already Lost AI Fight to China, Says Ex-Pentagon Software Chief"; Vera Bergengruen, "Tech Leaders Warn the U.S. Is Falling Behind China on AI."

<sup>38</sup> Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology" ( 人工智能技术的军事应用边界研究), *National Defense Technology*, August 30, 2021.

<sup>39</sup> Sun Haiyong, "The Militarization of AI by the US: Trends, Risks and Countermeasures" (美国人工智能军 事化的发展态势、风险与应对路径), *International Forum*, March 18, 2022; Jia Zifang and Wang Dong, "Artificial Intelligence and Its Impact on War" (人工智能技术对战争形态的影响及其战略意义), *The Journal of International Studies*, December 15, 2020.

<sup>40</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence" (美军推进人工智能军事应用的举措、挑战及启示), *National Defense Technology*, August 30, 2020; Zhang Dongdong, "The Militarization of Artificial Intelligence and Global Strategic Stability" (人工智能军事化与全球战略稳定), *Global Review*, September 7, 2022.

<sup>41</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Zhou Fan, Ma Zhong, Ma Yao, and Li Shen, "Embedded Intelligent Algorithm Reasoning Acceleration Technology," *Ship Electronic Engineering*, June 20, 2021; Zhang Dongdong, "The Militarization of Artificial Intelligence and Global Strategic Stability."

<sup>42</sup> Cai Cuihong and Dai Liting, "The Impact Path of Artificial Intelligence on Shaping the Composite Strategic Stability: A Model-Based Examination."

<sup>43</sup> Sun Haiyong, "The Militarization of AI by the US: Trends, Risks and Countermeasures"; Jia Zifang and Wang Dong, "Artificial Intelligence and Its Impact on War."

<sup>44</sup> Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method."

<sup>45</sup> Li Longmei and Jia Zhenzhen, "Research on the Intelligent Development of Electromagnetic Energy Equipment" (电磁能装备智能化发展探究), *Dual Use Technologies & Products*, July 15, 2022.

<sup>46</sup> Zhang Guyue, "On the War Regulations of Artificial Intelligence Weapons" (论人工智能武器的战争法规 制), *Journal of Karamay*, March 25, 2021; Zhang Huang and Du Yanyun, "The Development Trend and Security Impact of the Militarization of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>47</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>48</sup> Zhang Huang and Du Yanyun, "The Development Trend and Security Impact of the Militarization of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>49</sup> Zhang Dongdong, "The Militarization of Artificial Intelligence and Global Strategic Stability"; Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems"; Zhang Huang and Du Yanyun, "The Development Trend and Security Impact of the Militarization of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>50</sup> Zhang Xiaojun, "The 'Rights and Wrongs' of Automated Network Security Defense" (自动化网络安全防 御的"是与非"), Cybersecurity & Informatization, August 5, 2021.

<sup>51</sup> Jiang Guangshun, Wang Fang, and Ren Yunlong, "A Study on Improving Air Defense and Anti-Missile Combat Capabilities Using Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>52</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>53</sup> Chen Xi, Ge Tengfei, and Song Daoqing, "An Assessment of the Impact of Intelligent Intelligence Means on the Strategic Stability of Great Powers" (智能化情报手段对大国战略稳定的影响评估), *Journal of Intelligence*, June 2, 2021.

<sup>54</sup> Ma Zhixuan, "Looking at the Application of Artificial Intelligence from the US Military's Kill Chain Process" (从美军杀伤链流程看人工智能的应用), *Military Digest*, February 1, 2021.

<sup>55</sup> The translations of these terms from Chinese to English, and their meanings in each language, are not always perfectly aligned. For example, the Chinese word "安全" can mean both "safety" and "security," while "可解释性" can mean both "interpretability" and "explainability." While I used context to determine whether the translation of "安全" should be "safety" or "security," CSET translates "可解释性" as "explainability," though an acceptable alternate translation is "interpretability."

Center for Security and Emerging Technology | 40

<sup>56</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Wang Mei-li and Du Chen-jie, "On the Implementation of 'Meaningful Human Control' over Autonomous Weapons—From International Law Perspective" (针对自 主性武器实施"有意义的人类控制"——国际法视角下的研究), *Journal of Hangzhou Normal University (Humanities and Social Sciences)*, January 15, 2022; Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>57</sup> Ning Liyue and Hu Shiyou, "Research on the Evaluation Method of Intelligent Sensing Anti-jamming Performance of Missile Seeker" (导弹导引头智能感知抗干扰性能评估方法研究), *Tactical Missile Technology*, July 21, 2020.

<sup>58</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Du Jin, "Classification and Risk Control of Artificial Intelligence Weapon Crime" (人工智能武器犯罪类型界分与风险控制), *Academic Exploration*, March 14, 2022; Leng Xinyu, "On the Critical Points of International Law and Policy Regarding Arms Control of Autonomous Weapon Systems (论自主武器军控的国际法及政策要点)," *National Defense Technology*, August 30, 2021.

<sup>59</sup> Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems."

<sup>60</sup> Chen Xinzhong, Cao Gang, and Guo Xiaohong, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Modernization Construction of American and Russian Nuclear Weapon Systems" (人工智能在美俄核武器系统现代化建设中的应用), *Command Information System and Technology*, 2022; Han Hongtao, "An Analysis of the Potential Application and Influence of Artificial Intelligence in Nuclear Combat Systems" (人工智能在核作战体系中的潜在应用及影响浅析), *National Defense Technology*, August 30, 2022.

<sup>61</sup> Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method"; Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Wu Xiaolong, Shi Shaozhu, and Xia Liangbin, "The Impact of Artificial Intelligence Technology on Nuclear Weapons (人工智能技术对核武 器的影响)," *Aerodynamic Missile Journal*, March 3, 2020.

<sup>62</sup> Li Longmei and Jia Zhenzhen, "Research on the Intelligent Development of Electromagnetic Energy Equipment."

<sup>63</sup> Jiang Guangshun, Wang Fang, and Ren Yunlong, "A Study on Improving Air Defense and Anti-Missile Combat Capabilities Using Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>64</sup> Du Jin, "Classification and Risk Control of Artificial Intelligence Weapon Crime."

<sup>65</sup> Du Jin, "Classification and Risk Control of Artificial Intelligence Weapon Crime"; Zhang Guyue, "On the War Regulations of Artificial Intelligence Weapons."

<sup>66</sup> Wang Mei-li and Du Chen-jie, "On the Implementation of 'Meaningful Human Control' over Autonomous Weapons—From International Law Perspective"; Zhang Dongdong, "The Militarization of Artificial Intelligence and Global Strategic Stability"; Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method."

<sup>67</sup> Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems."

<sup>68</sup> Sun Haiyong, "The Militarization of AI by the US: Trends, Risks and Countermeasures."

<sup>69</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>70</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>71</sup> Wang Mei-li and Du Chen-jie, "On the Implementation of 'Meaningful Human Control' over Autonomous Weapons—From International Law Perspective"; Zhang Dongdong, "The Militarization of Artificial Intelligence and Global Strategic Stability"; Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems."

<sup>72</sup> Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems."

<sup>73</sup> Leng Xinyu, "Principle of Meaningful Human Control under Topic of Lethal Autonomous Weapon System."

<sup>74</sup> Wu Xiaolong, Shi Shaozhu, and Xia Liangbin, "The Impact of Artificial Intelligence Technology on Nuclear Weapons."

<sup>75</sup> Chen Xi, Ge Tengfei, and Song Daoqing, "An Assessment of the Impact of Intelligent Intelligence Means on the Strategic Stability of Great Powers."

<sup>76</sup> Tate Nurkin and Julia Siegel, "How Modern Militaries Are Leveraging AI" (Atlantic Council, August 14, 2023), <u>https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/in-depth-research-reports/report/how-modern-militaries-are-leveraging-ai/</u>

<sup>77</sup> "Data, Analytics, and Artificial Intelligence Adoption Strategy: Accelerating Decision Advantage" (Department of Defense, November 2, 2023), <u>https://media.defense.gov/2023/Nov/02/2003333300/-1/-1/1/DOD\_DATA\_ANALYTICS\_AI\_ADOPTION\_STRATEGY.PDF</u>.

<sup>78</sup> Qian Guixin and Sheng Da, "Thinking of the Application of Artificial Intelligence in Naval Gun Firing" ( 人工智能在海军舰炮武器实弹射击应用思考), Scientific and Technological Innovation, June 5, 2020.

<sup>79</sup> Qian Guixin and Sheng Da, "Thinking of the Application of Artificial Intelligence in Naval Gun Firing."

Center for Security and Emerging Technology | 42

<sup>80</sup> Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method."

<sup>81</sup> Zhang Xiaojuan and Guo Jie, "Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Information Weapon Equipment" (人工智能技术在信息化武器装备中的应用), *Application of IC*, April 10, 2021.

<sup>82</sup> Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field" (人工智能技术在军事领域的应用思考), *Journal of China Academy of Electronics and Information Technology*, March 20, 2022.

<sup>83</sup> Li Longmei and Jia Zhenzhen, "Research on the Intelligent Development of Electromagnetic Energy Equipment"; Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field."

<sup>84</sup> Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field."

<sup>85</sup> Li Longmei and Jia Zhenzhen, "Research on the Intelligent Development of Electromagnetic Energy Equipment."

<sup>86</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>87</sup> Leng Xinyu, "Principle of Meaningful Human Control under Topic of Lethal Autonomous Weapon System."

<sup>88</sup> Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field."

<sup>89</sup> Zhang Guyue, "On the War Regulations of Artificial Intelligence Weapons."

<sup>90</sup> Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field."

<sup>91</sup> Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field."

<sup>92</sup> Chen Qian and Wei Feiming, "Speculation on Development of Intelligent Terminal Guidance in Future Battlefield Environments" (未来战场环境下智能末制导发展设想), *Guidance & Fuze*, December 26, 2022; Ning Liyue and Hu Shiyou, "Research on the Evaluation Method of Intelligent Sensing Anti-jamming Performance of Missile Seeker."

<sup>93</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Chen Qian and Wei Feiming, "Vision on Development of Intelligent Terminal Guidance in Future Battlefield Environment." <sup>94</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry" (智能化武器装备标准体系框架研究), *Information Technology and Network Security*, November 10, 2020.

<sup>95</sup> Qian Guixin and Sheng Da, "Thinking of the Application of Artificial Intelligence in Naval Gun Firing."

<sup>96</sup> Lu Rui, Li Chunwei, and Liu Fei, "Exploration of the Main Directions of the Intelligent Development of Armored Equipment" (装甲装备智能化发展的主要方向探究), *National Defense Technology*, April 30, 2022.

<sup>97</sup> Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field"; Wang Dongchen and Dong Shouquan, "Research on the Command of Ship Formations in Sea Combat in Intelligent Naval Warfare" (智能化海战背景下舰艇编队对 海作战指挥研究), *Aerodynamic Missile Journal*, February 29, 2020.

<sup>98</sup> Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>99</sup> Yang Wei, Wang Yue, Liu Xuechao et al., "Review on Development and Research of Unmanned Antiaircraft [sic] Weapons" (无人防空武器的发展及研究综述), *Journal of Gun Launch & Control*, May 6, 2021.

<sup>100</sup> Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems" (海上无 人装备体系应用研究), *Measurement & Control Technology*, October 18, 2020.

<sup>101</sup> Gao Zilong, Zhao Lei, Chen Benjun et al., "Research on the Construction of Weapon Equipment Intelligent Support System" (武器裝备智能化保障体系建设研究), *Aerospace Industry Management*, July 30, 2022; Wu Ji, Liu Shulei, Deng Qiwen, and Xu Haiyang, "The Development of New-Generation AI and Its Military Impacts;" Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field"; Wang Yingying, Zhang Yuye, and Wang Shujuan, "Application of UAV Geospatial Intelligence in Intelligent Naval Warfare" (无人机地理空间情报在智能化 海战中的应用), *Military Digest*, April 1, 2022.

<sup>102</sup> Cui Guang-yu and Xie Na, "Consideration of Intelligent Support for Aviation Equipment" (航空装备智 能保障思考), *Measurement & Control Technology*, December 18, 2020; Cai Jie, Liu Tao, and Guo Ji-feng, "Application and Prospect of Intelligence in Weapon Equipment Support" (智能化在武器装备保障中的应 用与展望), *Ship Science and Technology*, October 8, 2022; Wu Ji, Liu Shulei, Deng Qiwen, and Xu Haiyang, "The Development of New-Generation AI and Its Military Impacts."

<sup>103</sup> Xu Wenjia, "Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Helicopters" (人工智能技术在直升机上 的应用), *Electronic Technology & Software Engineering*, January 15, 2020; Yang Wei, Wang Yue, Liu Xuechao et al., "Review on Development and Research of Unmanned Antiaircraft [sic] Weapons."

<sup>104</sup> Zhang Huang and Du Yanyun, "The Development Trend and Security Impact of the Militarization of Artificial Intelligence."

<sup>105</sup> Chen Xi, Ge Tengfei and Song Daoqing, "An Assessment of the Impact of Intelligent Intelligence Means on the Strategic Stability of Great Powers."

<sup>106</sup> Du Jin, "Classification and Risk Control of Artificial Intelligence Weapon Crime"; Wu Xiaolong, Shi Shaozhu, and Xia Liangbin, "The Impact of Artificial Intelligence Technology on Nuclear Weapons."

<sup>107</sup> Wei Chaohui, Sun Zhongju, Gao Guiqing, and Zhang Chong, "Thoughts on the Development of Intelligent Missile Weapons."

<sup>108</sup> Zhang Xiaojun, "The 'Rights and Wrongs' of Automated Network Security Defense."

<sup>109</sup> Cao Qiang, "New Characteristics, New Trends, and New Challenges—Review and Reflection on Cyber Warfare" (新特点、新趋势、新挑战——网络战回顾与省思), *Information Security and Communications Privacy*, January 10, 2020; Long Kun and Xu Nengwu, "AI's Military Applications: Risks and Governance." One reviewer for the paper pointed out that Chinese defense analysts rarely discuss the prospect of escalation from cyberattacks to kinetic conflict, and it is possible this author is relaying a perspective more commonly discussed in U.S. literature on the topic.

<sup>110</sup> Han Hongtao, "An Analysis of the Potential Application and Influence of Artificial Intelligence in Nuclear Combat Systems" (人工智能在核作战体系中的潜在应用及影响浅析), National Defense Technology, August 30, 2022; Huang Zhong, "Intelligent Autonomous Weapon: A New Impetus for International Power Struggle" (智能武器:国际权力斗争的新动力), Teaching and Research, September 15, 2020.

<sup>111</sup> Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field"; Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry"; Xie Jing and Zhang Rui-jian, "Research on the Scientific and Technological Innovations and Military Applications in Networking and Information Major Fields of the United States"; Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method."

<sup>112</sup> Gao Zilong, Zhao Lei, Chen Benjun et al., "Research on the Construction of Weapon Equipment Intelligent Support System."

<sup>113</sup> Chen Xi, Ge Tengfei and Song Daoqing, "An Assessment of the Impact of Intelligent Intelligence Means on the Strategic Stability of Great Powers"; Huang Zhong, "Intelligent Autonomous Weapon: A New Impetus for International Power Struggle."

<sup>114</sup> Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems."

<sup>115</sup> Guo Yuansheng, "Develop Sensing Technology to Strengthen Basic Industries" (发展传感技术强化基础产业), *Chinese High Technology*, January 1, 2020.

<sup>116</sup> Guo Yuansheng, "Develop Sensing Technology to Strengthen Basic Industries."

<sup>117</sup> Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>118</sup> Chen Weijun, Zou Qing, and Tu Weijun, "Research on Intelligent Development Trend and Application of Air-to-Surface Weapons" (空面武器智能化发展趋势与应用), *Helicopter Technique*, June 15, 2021.

<sup>119</sup> Wu Zhi-fei and Wu Di, "Development Trend of Future Underwater Warfare and Its Enlightenment" ( 未来水下作战的发展趋势及启示), *Journal of Naval University of Engineering*, December 15, 2020.

<sup>120</sup> Lu Rui, Li Chunwei, and Liu Fei, "Exploration of the Main Directions of the Intelligent Development of Armored Equipment."

<sup>121</sup> Jia Zifang and Wang Dong, "Artificial Intelligence and Its Impact on War."

<sup>122</sup> Chen Weijun, Zou Qing, and Tu Weijun, "Research on Intelligent Development Trend and Application of Air-to-Surface Weapons."

<sup>123</sup> Guo Yuansheng, "Develop Sensing Technology to Strengthen Basic Industries."

<sup>124</sup> Guo Yuansheng, "Develop Sensing Technology to Strengthen Basic Industries."

<sup>125</sup> Guo Yuansheng, "Develop Sensing Technology to Strengthen Basic Industries."

<sup>126</sup> Wang Chaolei and Fan Huitao, "Research on New Air Combat Concepts of US Military" (美军新型制空 作战概念研究), *Aero Weaponry*, June 15, 2022; Wu Zhi-fei and Wu Di, "Development Trend of Future Underwater Warfare and Its Enlightenment."

<sup>127</sup> Leng Xinyu, "Principle of Meaningful Human Control under Topic of Lethal Autonomous Weapon System."

<sup>128</sup> Wang Xuxun and Chen Hai, "Research on the Application and Key Issues of Unmanned Combat Systems" (无人作战系统的应用及关键问题探究), *Military Digest*, April 1, 2021.

<sup>129</sup> Qian Guixin and Sheng Da, "Thinking of the Application of Artificial Intelligence in Naval Gun Firing."

<sup>130</sup> Qian Guixin and Sheng Da, "Thinking of the Application of Artificial Intelligence in Naval Gun Firing."

<sup>131</sup> Cai Jie, Liu Tao, and Guo Ji-feng, "Application and Prospect of Intelligence in Weapon Equipment Support."

<sup>132</sup> Ding Dali, Xie Lei, and Wang Yuan, "The Application of Manned/Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Cooperative Combat and Its Influence on War Form" (有人机/无人机协同作战运用及对战争形态影响), *Unmanned Systems Technology*, July 15, 2020.

<sup>133</sup> Wang Xuxun and Chen Hai, "Research on the Application and Key Issues of Unmanned Combat Systems"; Xie Jing and Zhang Rui-jian, "Research on the Scientific and Technological Innovations and Military Applications in Networking and Information Major Fields of the United States." <sup>134</sup> "The 'Loyal Wingman' Is Here!—Boeing's 'Loyal Wingman' Program Participates in Air Combat Tests" ("忠诚僚机"来了!——波音"忠诚僚机"方案参与空战问题"), *Tank & Armoured Vehicle*, June 16, 2020.

<sup>135</sup> "The 'Loyal Wingman' Is Here! ——Boeing's 'Loyal Wingman' Program Participates in Air Combat Tests."

<sup>136</sup> Leng Xinyu, "Principle of Meaningful Human Control under Topic of Lethal Autonomous Weapon System."

<sup>137</sup> Wu Zhi-fei and Wu Di, "Development Trend of Future Underwater Warfare and Its Enlightenment."

<sup>138</sup> Wang Dongchen and Dong Shouquan, "Research on the Command of Ship Formations in Sea Combat in Intelligent Naval Warfare"; Chen Chi-Lian, Tang Zheng, Hu Jun-Feng et al., "Data Link 2.0: The Victory Maker of Intelligent War" (数据链 2.0:智能化战争的制胜利器), *Journal of Command and Control*, March 15, 2020.

<sup>139</sup> Wu Zhi-fei and Wu Di, "Development Trend of Future Underwater Warfare and Its Enlightenment"; Xie Jing and Zhang Rui-jian, "Research on the Scientific and Technological Innovations and Military Applications in Networking and Information Major Fields of the United States"; Gao Zilong, Zhao Lei, Chen Benjun et al., "Research on the Construction of Weapon Equipment Intelligent Support System."

<sup>140</sup> Wang Xuxun and Chen Hai, "Research on the Application and Key Issues of Unmanned Combat Systems"; Xie Jing and Zhang Rui-jian, "Research on the Scientific and Technological Innovations and Military Applications in Networking and Information Major Fields of the United States."

<sup>141</sup> Wang Xuxun and Chen Hai, "Research on the Application and Key Issues of Unmanned Combat Systems."

<sup>142</sup> Du Zehong, Lou Qiao, He Min et al., "Development Status and Prospects of UAV Airborne Weapons" ( 无人机机载武器发展现状及展望), *Military Digest*, March 1, 2020.

<sup>143</sup> Wang Chaolei and Fan Huitao, "Research on New Air Combat Concepts of US Military."

<sup>144</sup> Chen Chi-Lian, Tang Zheng, Hu Jun-Feng et al., "Data Link 2.0: The Victory Maker of Intelligent War."

<sup>145</sup> Jeffrey Engstrom, "Systems Confrontation and System Destruction Warfare: How the Chinese People's Liberation Army Seeks to Wage Modern War" (RAND Corporation, February 1, 2018), <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/research\_reports/RR1708.html</u>; Mark Cozad et al., "Gaining Victory in Systems Warfare: China's Perspective on the U.S.-China Military Balance" (RAND Corporation, March 1, 2023), V, <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/research\_reports/RRA1535-1.html</u>.

<sup>146</sup> Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems"; Chen Chi-Lian, Tang Zheng, Hu Jun-Feng et al., "Data Link 2.0: The Victory Maker of Intelligent War."

<sup>147</sup> Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems."

<sup>148</sup> Wang Jiedong and Dong Qiangjian, "Analyzing the Autonomy of Unmanned Systems Roadmap" (无人 系统路线图自主性分析), *National Defense Technology*, August 30, 2021.

<sup>149</sup> Wu Qingping and Li Gaoyu, "Thoughts on Problems in the Construction of Combat Systems in Unmanned and Intelligent Warfare."

<sup>150</sup> Wu Qingping and Li Gaoyu, "Thoughts on Problems in the Construction of Combat Systems in Unmanned and Intelligent Warfare."

<sup>151</sup> Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems"; Wei Chaohui, Sun Zhongju, Gao Guiqing, and Zhang Chong, "Thoughts on the Development of Intelligent Missile Weapons."

<sup>152</sup> Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry."

<sup>153</sup> Zhang Qingyuan, "In the Next War, Artificial Intelligence May Play the Leading Role" (下一场战争,人 工智能或将唱主角), Defence Science & Technology Industry, May 15, 2021; Gao Zilong, Zhao Lei, Chen Benjun et al., "Research on the Construction of Weapon Equipment Intelligent Support System"; Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems"; Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry"; Cai Jie, Liu Tao and Guo Ji-feng, "Application and Prospect of Intelligence in Weapon Equipment Support."

<sup>154</sup> Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry"; Wu Qingping and Li Gaoyu, "Thoughts on Problems in the Construction of Combat Systems in Unmanned and Intelligent Warfare"; Ning Liyue and Hu Shiyou, "Research on the Evaluation Method of Intelligent Sensing Anti-jamming Performance of Missile Seeker."

<sup>155</sup> Du Jin, "Classification and Risk Control of Artificial Intelligence Weapon Crime."

<sup>156</sup> Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry."

<sup>157</sup> Guo Yuansheng, "Develop Sensing Technology to Strengthen Basic Industries"; Zhao Ang, "Research on the Intelligent Missile Weapon System" (智能导弹武器系统研究), *Technology Innovation and Application*, July 18, 2021; Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems"; Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method."

<sup>158</sup> Wang Jiedong and Dong Qiangjian, "Analyzing the Autonomy of Unmanned Systems Roadmap."

<sup>159</sup> Zeng Zilin, "The Measures, Challenges and Implications of the U.S. Army in Advancing the Military Application of Artificial Intelligence"; Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>160</sup> Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems."

<sup>161</sup> Niu Yifeng and Wang Chang, "Situation Analysis of Arms Control for Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems."

<sup>162</sup> Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry"; Chen Weijun, Zou Qing, and Tu Weijun, "Research on Intelligent Development Trend and Application of Air-to-Surface Weapons"; Li Bo-xia, Hang Feng, Li Qi-feng, and Zheng Ming-xin, "Research on the Application of Artificial Intelligence Technology in Military Field"; Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>163</sup> Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>164</sup> Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>165</sup> Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry"; Xue Ying and Fang Chao, "The Bounds of Military Applications of Artificial Intelligence Technology."

<sup>166</sup> Ning Liyue and Hu Shiyou, "Research on the Evaluation Method of Intelligent Sensing Anti-jamming Performance of Missile Seeker."

<sup>167</sup> Xu Chenhua, "Research on the Standard System Framework of Intelligent Weaponry"; Chen Weijun, Zou Qing, and Tu Weijun, "Research on Intelligent Development Trend and Application of Air-to-Surface Weapons"; Guo Yong-jin and Ju Hong-bin, "Application of Mairtime [sic] Unmanned Equipment Systems"; Zhang Lidan, Hu Zhou, and He Li, "Artificial Intelligence Applied to Missile Control Technology Research" (人工智能应用于导弹控制技术研究), *Dual Use Technologies & Products*, August 15, 2020; Wang Dongchen and Dong Shouquan, "Research on the Command of Ship Formations in Sea Combat in Intelligent Naval Warfare"; Wu Zhi-fei and Wu Di, "Development Trend of Future Underwater Warfare and Its Enlightenment."

<sup>168</sup> Wang Canghong and Hu Caishuang, "Application of Artificial Intelligence in Military Communication Network: Based on 'Zero Trust' Method."

<sup>169</sup> Wu Zhi-fei and Wu Di, "Development Trend of Future Underwater Warfare and Its Enlightenment."

<sup>170</sup> Katrina Manson and Anna Edgerton, "China Military's Use of AI Raises Alarm for Congress, Ex-Google CEO," *Bloomberg*, May 17, 2023, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-05-17/china-</u> military-ai-use-raises-alarm-for-congress-ex-google-ceo.

<sup>171</sup> Edgar Jatho and Joshua A. Kroll, "Artificial Intelligence: Too Fragile to Fight?" *U.S. Naval Institute*, February 2022, <u>https://www.usni.org/magazines/proceedings/2022/february/artificial-intelligence-too-fragile-fight</u>; David Zelaya and Nicholas Keeley, "The Input-Output Problem: Managing the Military's Big Data in the Age of AI," *War on the Rocks*, February 13, 2020, <u>https://warontherocks.com/2020/02/the-input-output-problem-managing-the-militarys-big-data-in-the-age-of-ai/</u>; Jon Harper, "Network Modernization Poses Problems for Army," *National Defense*, October 30, 2018,

https://www.nationaldefensemagazine.org/articles/2018/10/30/network-modernization-posesproblems-for-army; "Department of Defense Press Briefing on the Adoption of Ethical Principles for Center for Security and Emerging Technology | 49

#### Artificial Intelligence," February 24, 2020,

https://www.defense.gov/News/Transcripts/Transcript/Article/2094162/department-of-defense-pressbriefing-on-the-adoption-of-ethical-principles-for/; Calypso AI, "Responsible AI Conversation with Dr. Jane Pinelis and Neil Serebryany," February 13, 2023, <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dcL-iut4BCo</u>.

<sup>172</sup> Mark Cozad et al., "Gaining Victory in Systems Warfare: China's Perspective on the U.S.-China Military Balance."

<sup>173</sup> A central aspect of China's theory of victory in future wars is the creation of synergized operational systems. Based, at least in part, on the U.S. conception of "network-centric" warfare, China's systems warfare concept is aimed at creating networks of sensors, command and control systems, and platforms that enhance its operational capabilities across all domains through rapid decision-making and precision strikes. At the same time, the PLA aims to practice systems confrontation and system destruction warfare, or the use of its own systems to disrupt or destroy an adversary's interconnected systems. See Mark Cozad et al., "Gaining Victory in Systems Warfare: China's Perspective on the U.S.-China Military Balance."

<sup>174</sup> Jamey Keaten and Kelvin Chan, "In First Al Dialogue, U.S. Cites 'Misuse' of Al by China, Beijing Protests Washington's Restrictions," Associated Press, May 16, 2024, <u>https://apnews.com/article/artificial-intelligence-china-united-states-biden-xi-geneva-</u> <u>506da7b5fa72d5fe1bcd54fb8ec4f898</u>.

<sup>175</sup> Sam Bresnick, "U.S. and China Must Seize Opening to Discuss Military AI Risks," *Nikkei Asia*, December 12, 2023, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Opinion/U.S.-and-China-must-seize-opening-to-discuss-military-AI-risks</u>.